RECEIVED

Aug 05 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James E. Chellis, Master In Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-000430
Lower Court Case No. 2021-CP-18-01535

Sinclair Brown, Jr. and Joetta A. Brown, Respondents,

v.

INTRODUCTION

On February 6, 2024, the Honorable Judge James E. Chellis, of the First Judicial Circuit in Dorchester County, issued a ruling in favor of the Respondents, granting them an appurtenant easement over the Appellants' property and ordering the removal of a fence from the grounds of said property. Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider the lower court's ruling on February 16, 2024, whereupon the motion was later denied on March 6, 2024. Appellants subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court on March 15, 2024, and submit this Final Brief as result of their Appeal.

The lower court's ruling warrants rehearing on the grounds that the court misapplied or misapprehended South Carolina precedent when determining the outcome of this case. Specifically, the lower court's decision declined to correctly apply established South Carolina case law regarding implied easements to the facts of this case when issuing its ruling. Additionally, as stated in more detail below, the lower court overlooked material facts in issuing its order requiring the removal of the Appellants' fence which was located solely on their own private property. For these reasons, and those articulated below, the Appellants respectfully request that this Court overturn the lower court's ruling by revoking the appurtenant easement placed on the Appellant's property and reversing the order requiring the removal of the Appellants' fence from the same.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 2, 2021, Respondents filed a Complaint against the Appellants (and various other parties previously associated with the properties in question) in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 40-48) The Respondents sought a declaratory judgment against the Appellants and a court order requiring the removal of a fence from the Appellants' land. (R. pp. 40-48) In their complaint, the Respondents sought judgment from the court solely on the grounds of private nuisance and trespass. (R. pp. 40-48) However, neither of these causes of action were

fundamental in the lower court's ruling, seeing as both actions were dismissed with prejudice in the court's Final Decree. (R. p. 32) On November 11, 2021, Appellants filed their Answer and Counterclaim against the Respondents, denying all allegations in the Complaint and seeking declaratory judgment from the court, stating the Appellants are the sole and rightful owners of the pond located on the property and were within their lawful rights as property owners to erect the fence in question. (R. pp. 69-79)

On January 20, 2022, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with the lower court, requesting that the court grant their motion on the grounds that the Appellants failed to timely reply to the Respondents' first set of requests for admissions, thus deeming all referenced statements as admitted. (R. pp. 96-97) On February 1, 2022, Appellants filed a motion to withdraw the admissions which resulted from their inadvertent failure to submit a timely reply. (R. pp. 98-100) Relying on SCRCF Rule 36, Appellants requested that the court grant their motion on the grounds that allowing the withdrawal would serve the presentation of the merits of the action, and Respondents would not be prejudiced in their ability to maintain their action on the merits. (R. p. 98-100) The Appellants' motion was granted.

Spanning from the months of February 2022 to November 2022, all other parties named in this case as defendants by the Respondents were dismissed from the action, leaving only the Respondents and Appellants as active parties to the matter. On November 30, 2022, this case was referred to the Honorable Justice Chellis, Master in Equity for Dorchester Country. (R. pp. 10-13) On January 23, 2023, the Appellants' Consent Order substituting Steven L. Smith of Smith | Closser, P.A. as counsel was granted, discharging all previous representation of their duties.

On June 16, 2023, Appellants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with the lower court on the grounds that there was no material issue of fact and requested a judgment on the pleadings.

(R. pp. 123-124) On August 25, 2023, Respondents filed a second Motion for Summary Judgment with the lower court based on the allegation that one of the original boundary stake posts had resurfaced from underneath the water of the pond in question, entitling them to a property interest in the pond based on the plat referenced in their initial Complaint. (R. pp. 125-126) All Motions for Summary Judgment were denied prior to trial. (R. pp. 14-17)

This case was heard before the Honorable Judge Chellis on October 16, 2023, and the Final Decree was issued in favor of the Respondents on February 6, 2024. (R. p. 18-33) Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider with the lower court on February 16, 2024. (R. pp. 128-150) However, the motion was later denied on March 6, 2024. (R. p. 34-36) Appellants come before this Court as a result of their Notice of Appeal filed on March 15, 2024. (R. p. 92) The Appellants request that this Court set aside the lower court's ruling and allow their arguments to be heard again.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case originated in 2005 when the original owners of the parcels in question (“the Jones”) subdivided their 67.13-acre tract of land into five parcels. Four of these parcels are fronted to the south by a public highway and collectively account for 25.21 acres of the original tract of land. The remaining 41.92 acres of land (“the Residual Property”) remain undivided and lie to the north of the four subdivided parcels.

In 2005, the Jones commissioned Mr. Raymond B. Hager to survey the newly subdivided tracts which the Jones intended to sell. (R. p. 211, 23 lines 1-25) At the time of the subdivision, Mr. Jones, who was deceased at the outset of this trial, had been excavating a sand mine just north of the four subdivided parcels to collect dirt and sand for his construction company. (R. p. 211, 23 lines 1-25) In the resulting plat, which he rendered after surveying the Jones' land (“the Hager Plat”), Mr. Hager included the large pit which Mr. Jones had been excavating for

resources, labeling it as a “proposed pond.” (R. p. 284) This label was included on the Hager Plat despite the absence of any water in the pit at the time of the survey and seemingly without consulting with the Jones regarding the pit’s intended use. At trial, Mrs. Jones’ stated that the hole that was dug was never intended to be a pond. (R. p. 226, 85 lines 12-20 - p. 227, 86 lines 1-9) In fact, Mrs. Jones further testified that she was unaware of the “proposed pond” label contained in the Hager Plat until days ahead of the trial. (R. p. 227, 86 lines 7-9)

Following the survey, the Jones began selling the four subdivided parcels individually. The parcel which demands the attention of this Court is labeled as Lot 3 on the Hager Plat. (R. p. 284). Lot 3 was first conveyed by the Jones to the Murrays on March 10, 2011. (R. p. 287) The Murrays subsequently conveyed Lot 3 to the Respondents on March 27, 2014. (R. p. 293) Both conveyances of Lot 3 relied on the Hager Plat as their primary source for the boundaries of the lot. (R. p. 284) According to Mrs. Jones’ testimony, none of the lots sold, including Lot 3, were advertised, or marketed as “waterfront property,” and no right or easement to the pond was ever implied to have run with the land. (R. p. 227, 88 lines 14-16)

On July 25, 2018, the Jones conveyed the Residual Property to the All family. (R. p. 298) During their ownership, the Alls commissioned a survey of the property by Mr. Richard J. Rhode. The resulting plat (“the Rhode Plat”) provides a detailed depiction of the “proposed pond” seen on the Hager Plat, showing the present-day boundaries of the pond and the lots situated to the south of the pond’s waterline. (R. p. 285).

On March 15, 2021, the Alls conveyed the Residual Property to the Appellants. (R. p. 302) Upon acquiring the Residual Property, the Appellants erected a fence along the southern boundary line of their property as indicated by the Rhode Plat. (R. p. 285). Subsequently, Respondents sued the Appellants in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas, stating that

the fence interfered with the Respondents' use of the pond located on the Appellants' land. (R. pp. 40-48) The lower court issued a ruling granting the Respondents a special property interest in the form of an appurtenant easement over the Appellants' land and are entitled to the private use and enjoyment of the pond located on the Appellants' property. (R. pp. 31-32) In its ruling, the lower court also ordered the removal of the fence from the Appellants' property. (R. p. 32) The Appellants now appeal the lower court's ruling.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings." *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E. 2d 773, 775 (1976). The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without reference. *Id.* The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Id.*

As the finder of fact, it is for the trial court to resolve conflicts in the trial testimony. *Sherman v. W & B Enters., Inc.*, 357 S.C. 243, 250, 592 S.E.2d 307, 310 (S.C. Ct. App.) (2003). "Although there may be conflicts in the evidence in the trial record, the appellate court's standard of review allows the court to only look for the existence of evidence and not to weigh its credibility." *Id.*

"The determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action" and subject to an any evidence standard of review when tried by a judge without a jury. *Jowers v. Hornsby*, 292 S.C. 549, 551, 357 S.E.2d 710, 711 (1987). However, the determination of the extent of a grant of an easement is an action in equity. *Moore v. Reynolds*, 285 S.C. 574, 577, 330 S.E.2d 542, 544 (Ct. App. 1985). Thus, we may take our view of the evidence on the latter issue. *Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City Council of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976); see also [**335]

Floyd v. Floyd, 306 S.C. 376, 412 S.E.2d 397 (1991) (for treatment of cases containing both legal and equitable issues). *Smith v. Comm'rs of Pub. Works*, 312 S.C. 460, 467 (S.C. Ct. App.) (1994).

ARGUMENT

Pursuant to South Carolina case law, an appurtenant easement may be expressly or impliedly applied to the land of another to allow for an individual landowner to fully enjoy their own property. *Inlet Harbor v. S.C. Dept. of Parks, Recreation and Tourism*, 377 S.C. 86, 659 S.E.2d 151 (2008). Once an appurtenant easement has been recognized by the courts, it runs with the land and will transfer in all future conveyances of the land. *Steele v. Williams*, 204 S.C. 124, 130, 28 S.E.2d 644, 647 (1944). Absent an express agreement, when determining whether an implied easement exists the courts will look at the intent of the original conveyors as well as four elements required to establish an appurtenant easement. *Inlet Harbor* at 88.

In addition to these elements, courts also defer to well established South Carolina law in differentiating the special property interests a landowner may have in land which sits adjacent to the landowner's property. These interests are dependent upon whether the easement is being sought over a public road, park, or square or if the land falls within the category of private property. *Cason v. Gibson*, 217 S.C. 500, 509, 61 S.E.2d 58, 62 (1950).

Based on the facts of this case and the governing case law on the issues, the lower court erroneously applied South Carolina precedent regarding special property interests and erred in granting the Respondents an easement over the Appellants' land and thus further erred in ordering the removal of the fence from the Appellants' property.

I. The lower court erred in finding Respondents' have established a special property interest in the form of an appurtenant easement over Appellants' property.

An appurtenant easement is a right held by one landowner to use the land of another landowner for a specific purpose. *Jacobs v. Service Merchandise Co.*, 297 S.C. 123 (SC Ct. App.)

(1988). Appurtenant easements may be created either expressly or by implication. *Inlet Harbor v. S.C. Dept. of Parks, Recreation and Tourism*, 377 S.C. 86, 659 S.E.2d 151 (2008). In *Inlet Harbor*, the Supreme Court provided, “Implied easements are based upon the theory that whenever one conveys property, he intends to convey whatever is necessary for the property’s use and enjoyment.” *Id.*

Pursuant to well established South Carolina Supreme Court case law, an appurtenant easement must “inhere in the land, concern the premises, have one terminus on the land of the party claiming it, and be essentially necessary to the enjoyment thereof.” *Steele v. Williams*, 204 S.C. 124, 130, 28 S.E.2d 644, 647 (1944). In simpler terms, for an appurtenant easement to exist, the easement must: (1) be related to the dominant property itself; (2) affect the dominant property in some way; (3) connect the dominant property to the servient property; and (4) be *essentially necessary* to the enjoyment of the dominant property. *Id.* Once established, an appurtenant easement runs with the land and transfers with it upon conveyance. *Id.* Alternatively, if the easement does not satisfy all four elements required of an appurtenant easement, it may be characterized as an easement in gross. 12 S.C. Juris. *Easements* § 3(c). Notably, an easement in gross is a mere personal privilege to use the land of another and thus is incapable of transfer upon conveyance of the dominant land. *Sandy Island Corp. v. Ragsdale*, 246 S.C. 414 (1964). In this case, access to the pond in question was never intended to be conveyed with Lot 3 by the original conveyors nor is access to the pond necessary for the Respondents’ enjoyment of their land.

A. There was no intent by the original conveyors to transfer an appurtenant easement over the Appellants’ land to any future owners of Lot 3.

The establishment of an appurtenant easement can be achieved through various different means. One common way is through an express grant, where the character of the easement is determined by the nature of the right and the intention of the parties creating it. *Smith v. Comm’rs*

of Pub. Works, 312 S.C. 460, 467 (S.C. Ct. App.)(1994). The language of the agreement can be evidence supporting the conclusion that the agreement establishes an appurtenant easement. *Id.* For instance, if an agreement contains language such as “the future owners shall...” this language can indicate the intent of the parties and be binding on any successors to the land. *Smith* at 471. Alternatively, S.C. courts have been hesitant to recognize non-expressly authorized easements, or implied easements. In *Harbor Inlet*, the Supreme Court provided “The purpose of an implied easement is to give effect to the intentions of the parties to a transaction, and because the implication of an easement in a conveyance goes against the general rule that a written instrument speaks for itself, implied easements are not favored.” *Harbor Inlet* citing 17 Aam. Jur. Easements 37 (1957) (*see also* 28A C.J.S. *Easements* 61 (1996)).

This Court issued a ruling on a case with facts strikingly similar to the matter at hand in its opinion for *Braselton v. Roberts*. *Braselton v. Roberts*, No. 2021-UP-280, 2021 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 305 (Ct. App. July 21, 2021). In *Braselton*, a plaintiff appealed a trial court’s ruling which held that a notation on a subdivision’s plat which listed certain lots for “agricultural use only” did not create a valid restriction on the lots therein. *Id.* The trial court held that the notation did not create a restrictive covenant because upon viewing extrinsic evidence surrounding the creation of the original plat, there was no intent by the parties who commissioned the plat to restrict the use of the lots or convey a certain purpose for the lots. *Id.* at 1. On appeal, this Court opined, “In the interpretation of maps and plats, intention will not be inferred by symbols of uncertain meaning or from fanciful adornments on the plat...circumstances surrounding the origin of an alleged restriction may also be considered in construing that restriction.” *Braselton* citing *Hamilton v. CCM, Inc.*, 274 S.C. 152, 263 S.E.2d 378 (1980). This Court further provided “Once the court decides the language is ambiguous, evidence may be admitted to show the intent of the parties.

The determination of the parties' intent is then a question of fact." *Id* at 3. Moreover, this Court ruled that while the language used in the agricultural use provision of the plat was not ambiguous, the origin of the language on the plat created ambiguity. *Id* at 3-4. This Court opined "The presumption of an implied easement may be rebutted by a specific, contrary intention by the grantor." *Id* at 4-5. In conclusion, this Court found that because the grantors in the case never intended to create a restrictive covenant requiring the lots to be used for agricultural use only, the language on the plat was not binding. *Id*. Supporting these findings, this Court concluded, "As the grantors, their intent is paramount as only the grantors can create a restriction that runs with the land." *Id* at 12.

Like the facts of *Braselton*, as evidenced by Mrs. Jones' testimony, there was absolutely no intention by the original grantors for there to be a pond on the Residual Property at the time of its survey, thus making any alleged intention of an easement for Lot 3 to have access to the Appellants' pond an impossibility. As previously mentioned, Mrs. Jones, the original subdivider and conveyor of all lands in question, never marketed Lot 3 as being "waterfront property" nor did she ever represent to any prospective purchaser of Lot 3 that they would be entitled to the use and enjoyment of the "proposed pond." (R. p. 227, 88 lines 14-16) Additionally, providing further evidence of a lack of the original party's intentions to convey an appurtenant easement over the Appellants' land, Mrs. Jones was unaware that the original plat made any mention of a "proposed pond" until she was shown the Hager Platt mere days before the trial of this case. (R. p. 226, 85 lines 12-20) In fact, the hole in the property that is now filled with water was never intended by the original conveyors to be a pond at the time of the subdivision and conveyance of Lot 3. (R. p. 211, 23 lines 1-20) Mrs. Jones testified that the hole which was surveyed and included on the Hager Plat as a "proposed pond" was a sand mine that her husband had been excavating to harvest

resources for his construction company. (R. p. 226, 85 lines 12-22) She further testified that the hole was never intended to be a pond or any other type of amenity to be conveyed with the subdivided land. (R. p. 226, 85 lines 12-25-p. 227, 86 lines 1-8) Lacking any intention to transform the empty hole into a pond, there could have been no intention by the Jones' family to convey any right to a pond which they, at the time, had no intention or anticipation of its very existence.

Adhering to the precedent put forth by this very Court, the original grantor's intentions in conveying any implied easement are paramount to any map or plat saying otherwise. *Braselton* at 12. Thus, because the Jones had no intentions in creating a pond when conveying the title of the land in question, no easement to the pond on the Appellants' land was ever conveyed with the title to Lot 3.

B. The pond is not essentially necessary for the Respondents' enjoyment of their land.

In *Proctor v. Steedley*, this Court took up a case which honed in on the fourth factor required for an appurtenant easement to exist; that it be *essentially necessary* for the enjoyment of the property thereof. *Proctor v. Steedley*, 398 S.C. 561, 730 S.E.2d 357 (SC Ct. App. 2012). This case concerned the right of a plaintiff-landowner to exercise an appurtenant easement over the neighboring defendant-landowner's access road. *Id.* The access road ran alongside a pond which opened up into a ravine between the two landowners' properties. *Id.* Without the use of the defendant-landowner's access road, the plaintiff-landowner was unable to access the north side of her property. *Id.* This Court found that an appurtenant easement granting the plaintiff use of the defendant's access road was essentially necessary for the plaintiff's enjoyment of her property, reasoning that without the use of the access road, the plaintiff would have lost all possible use and enjoyment of the north side of her property. *Id.* at 577.

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