THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Master in Equity

The Honorable James E. Chellis

---

Case No. 2021-CP-18-01535  
Appellate Case No. 2024-000430

---

**RECEIVED**

AUG 12 2024

**SC Court of Appeals**

Sinclair Brown, Jr. and Joetta A. Brown,.....Respondents,

v.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

- I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RELIED ON YEARS OF CASE LAW TO DETERMINE THE RESPONDENT'S OWNERSHIP OF .12 ACRES OF THE POND AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE RULING THE RESPONDENTS HAVE A SPECIAL INTEREST AND EASEMENT IN AND OVER THE POND
  
- II. THE PLAT AND DEEDS PROVE THE CLEAR INTENT TO CONVEY .12 ACRES OF THE POND TO THE RESPONDENTS AND THEIR PREDECESSORS IN INTEREST AS SHOWN ON THE APPLICABLE PLATS AND IN THE DEEDS AS RELIED UPON BY THE RESPONDENTS AND THEIR NEIGHBORS WITH SIMILAR PLAT AND ACREAGE REFERENCES IN THEIR DEEDS

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This matter is before this Court on the appeal of George B. Corrie, II and Shawna Corrie, (the "Appellants"), appealing the Final Decree of the Honorable James E. Chellis dated February 6, 2024, (ROA 15) and the Form 4 Order denying their Motion to Reconsider dated March 6, 2024. (ROA 31)

In the Final Decree, Judge Chellis resolved a dispute between four (4) landowners who own two contiguous parcels of land in Dorchester County. (ROA 15). Ultimately, Judge Chellis affirmed that the Respondents, Sinclair Brown, Jr. and Joetta A. Brown, (the "Respondents"), own 0.12 acres of a pond and that they acquired a special property interest in the pond as shown on the plat called the "Metts Plat" as a "Proposed Pond" and on the plat called the "Rhode Plat" as an actual pond along with a private right of access to that pond, which includes an easement to use and enjoy the pond. (ROA 15)

Judge Chellis also ruled that the Appellants were required to remove a fence blocking the Respondents' access to the pond and not interfere with the Respondents' right to use and enjoy the pond.

This case commenced with the filing of a Lis Pendens on August 18, 2021, and a Summons and Complaint on September 2, 2021. (ROA 34) (ROA 37).

In their Complaint, the Respondents asserted causes of action for a declaratory judgment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §15-53-10 to obtain a declaration of the rights, status, and other legal relationships of the parties in respect to the Respondents' and Appellants' subject properties and for nuisance and trespass whereas the Appellants willfully, wantonly and deliberately denied the Respondents access to the pond in question interfering with the Respondents' quiet enjoyment of their land by constructing a fence, blocking Respondents' access to a portion of the pond they are entitled to and continue to trespass on Respondents' property. *Id.* The Respondents also sought their attorneys' fees, costs and punitive damages pursuant to the above-referenced statutory provisions. *Id.*

The Guardian ad Litem filed an Answer on September 9, 2021. (ROA 46)

Keith Murray and Stephanie Murray, (the "Murrays"), were served on September 15, 2021, and September 22, 2021. (ROA 50) (ROA 56) A Stipulation of Dismissal as to the Murrays was filed on October 8, 2021, in which they consented to the relief requested by the Respondents. (ROA 1)

Wayne Anthony All and Sandra Rae All, (the "Alls"), were served on September 16, 2021. (ROA 52) (ROA 54) They filed a Motion to Dismiss on October 4, 2021, and, later, a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 13, 2021. (ROA 90) (ROA 91) A Stipulation of Dismissal as to these Alls was filed on April 4, 2022, in which they consented to the relief requested by the Respondents. (ROA 3)

Madelyn Jones, ("Mrs. Jones"), former owner of the subject properties before they were subdivided into the Lots owned by the Respondents and the Appellants, filed an Answer on October 11, 2021. (ROA 58)

The Appellants filed an Answer and Counterclaim on November 11, 2021 (ROA 66).

Bank of America filed an Answer on March 21, 2022. (ROA 80) As they had been placed in default on October 12, 2021, after being served on September 15, 2021, a Stipulation as to Waiver of Default and Consent to Order of Reference was filed on November 29, 2022. (ROA 64) (ROA 5)

The Respondents served their First Set of Interrogatories, First Set of Requests for Production and First Requests for Admission on the Appellants on November 15, 2021. (ROA 152) The Appellants failed to answer and the Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 20, 2022. (ROA 93) The Appellants filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on February 8, 2022. (ROA 98)

The Appellants filed a Motion to Withdraw Admissions filed on February 1, 2022, and a Memorandum in Support of their Motion to Withdraw Admissions on February 8, 2022. (ROA 95) (ROA 109)

Discovery continued.

A Motion for Consent Order of Reference was filed on November 10, 2022 and a Consent Order of Reference filed on November 30, 2022. (ROA 119) (ROA 7)

The Appellants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on June 16, 2023, and the Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on August 25, 2023. (ROA 120) (ROA 122) The case had been set for trial on September 18, 2023, through September 20, 2023, and the Respondents filed and mailed a Notice of Hearing on June 22, 2023. (ROA 85)

On September 18, 2023, the Motions for Summary Judgment were heard instead and a Form 4 C Order Denying those Motions was filed on September 25, 2023. (ROA 11)

The case was again set for trial for October 16, 2023, through October 18, 2023, and the Respondents filed and mailed a Notice of Hearing on September 12, 2023. (ROA 87)

Trial was held on October 16, 2023, before The Honorable James E. Chellis. (ROA 202)

Based upon the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits offered into evidence as well as the arguments of counsel, a Final Decree Order was filed on February 6, 2024, in favor of the Respondents. (ROA 15)

The Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider on February 16, 2024, and the Respondents filed a Memorandum in Opposition to their Motion to Reconsider on March 4, 2024. (ROA 125) (ROA 148)

Judge Chellis issued his Form 4 C Order Denying their motion was filed on March 6, 2024. (ROA 31)

The case was then appealed to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on March 15, 2024. (ROA 89).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Respondents are residents and citizens of Dorchester County and are the owners of certain real property, located in the County, South Carolina, and identified by Tax Map Number or Parcel Identification Number 093-00-00-025 (the “Brown Property”).

The Appellants are residents and citizens of Dorchester County and the owners of certain real property, located in the Dorchester County, South Carolina, and identified by Tax Map Number or Parcel Identification Number 093-00-00-003 (the “Corrie Property”). Paul W. Jones, Madelyn W. Jones (the “Joneses”) were the previous owners of certain real property, located in Dorchester County, South Carolina, and identified by Tax Map Number or Parcel Identification Number 093-00-00-025, which they subsequent subdivided. (ROA 16)

The Joneses formerly owned some 67.134 acres of land in Dorchester County. The Jones subdivided that property into five (5) parcels. (ROA 16). That subdivision created four (4) lots

along with a residual tract of land. *Id.* All of these sales and property descriptions referenced a new plat in which an area described as a “Proposed Pond” was included on that plat, which is referred to as the Metts Plat. (ROA 281)

The Metts Plat shows each of the four subdivided Lots containing a certain total acreage, of which a portion is described as being some many acres of “pond”. (ROA 281) The Respondents’ property is shown as being Lot 3 on that plat, containing 3.50 acres total and **0.12 acres of pond**. *Id.* (emphasis added)

The deed from the Respondents’ predecessors in interest describes the property as follows:

ALL that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, together with the buildings and improvements thereon if any, situate, lying and being in Givhans Township, County of Dorchester, State of South Carolina, being shown and designated as LOT 3, 3.50 AC. TOTAL, 0.12 AC. POND, more or less, as more particularly shown on that certain plat entitled, "PLAT TO SHOW THE SUBDIVISION OF A PORTION OF A 65.25 ACRE TRACT SURVEYED FOR PAUL W AND MADELYN W JONES, LOCATED 6 MILES SE OF GROVER, DORCHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA," dated\_ February 6, 2005 and revised May 28, 2005, prepared by Raymond B. Hager, S. C. RLS. No. 15185, and recorded June 21, 2005 in Plat Cabinet K, page 157; said lot having such size, shape, dimensions, buttings and boundings as will by reference to said plat more fully and at large appear.

BEING the same property conveyed to Keith A. Murray and Stephanie L.R. Murray herein by deed of Paul W Jones and Madelyn W Jones dated February 23, 2011 and recorded in the RMC Office for Dorchester County in Book 7824, page 257 and re-recorded in Book 7897, page 274, aforesaid records.

SUBJECT to any and all restrictions, covenants, conditions, easements, rights of way and all other matters affecting subject property of record in the Office of the RMC for Dorchester County, South Carolina.

(ROA 291)

This the same property description in the deed into Murrays in the deed from the Joneses who were the original owners of the parent tract subdivided into the four (4) Lots. (ROA 286). The Deed from the Jones to the Murrays described Lot 3 as containing 3.50 acres total, of which 0.12 acres is pond. *Id.*

The Bank of South Carolina, is the mortgage holder of the Appellants' residual acreage property by way of mortgage dated March 15, 2021, and recorded on March 15, 2021, with the Office of the Register of Deeds in Dorchester County, in Book 13199 at Page 245 more fully described as follows:

ALL that certain lot, piece or parcel of land, situate lying and being in Dorchester County, South Carolina, shown and designated as, "41.92 Acres," more or less, on that certain plat entitled, "PLAT SHOWING 41.92 ACRES PROPERTY OF ANTHONY WAYNE & SANDRA RAE ALL (JTROS) LOCATED NEAR GROVER DORCHESTER CO. S.C.," dated October 13, 2018 and prepared by Richard J. Rhode, SCRLS No 11366, and recorded December 7, 2018 in Plat Book M, page 159 in the Dorchester County Register of Deeds Office. Reference to said plat may be had for a more full and complete description thereof.

This being the same property as conveyed to Anthony Wayne All and Sandra Rae All by deed of Madelyn W. Jones, dated July 25, 2018 and recorded July 26, 2018 in Book 11470 at Page 1 in the Dorchester County Register of Deeds Office.

SUBJECT to any and all restrictions, covenants, conditions, easements, rights of way and all other matters affecting subject property of record in the Office of the RMC for Dorchester County, South Carolina.

AND BEING the same property conveyed to George B. Corrie, II and Shawna Corrie by deed of Anthony Wayne All and Sandra Rae All, dated March 15, 2021, and recorded March 15, 2021 in Book RB 13199, page 245 in the ofc the Register of Deeds for Dorchester County, South Carolina.

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 1650 Sandridge Road

TMS# 093-00-00-003

The Joneses conveyed their property to the Murrays, by way of deed recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds in Book 7824 at Page 257 on March 10, 2011, and re-recorded in Book 7894 at Page 274 on May 25, 2011, and formerly had an interest in the subject Property.

The Murrays conveyed their property to the Respondents by way of deed recorded on April 1, 2014, in the Office of the Register of Deeds in Book 9229 at Page 20 and formerly had an interest in the subject Property.

Dollar Bank Federal Savings Bank, is the mortgage holder of the Respondents' property by way of mortgage dated June 30, 2020, and recorded on July 2, 2020 in the Office of the Register of Deeds in Book RB 12592 at Page 338 more fully described as follows:

ALL that certain piece, parcel or lot of land, together with the buildings and improvements thereon if any, situate, lying and being in Givhans Township, County of Dorchester, State of South Carolina, being shown and designated as LOT 3, 3.50 AC. TOTAL, 0.12 AC. POND, more or less, as more particularly shown on that certain plat entitled, "PLAT TO SHOW THE SUBDIVISION OF A PORTION OF A 65.25 ACRE TRACT SURVEYED FOR PAUL W AND MADELYN W JONES, LOCATED 6 MILES SE OF GROVER, DORCHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA," dated\_ February 6, 2005 and revised May 28, 2005, prepared by Raymond B. Hager, S. C. RLS. No. 15185, and recorded June 21, 2005 in Plat Cabinet K, page 157; said lot having such size, shape, dimensions, buttings and boundings as will by reference to said plat more fully and at large appear.

BEING the same property conveyed to Keith A. Murray and Stephanie L.R. Murray herein by deed of Paul W Jones and Madelyn W Jones dated February 23, 2011 and recorded in the RMC Office for Dorchester County in Book 7824, page 257 and re-recorded in Book 7897, page 274, aforesaid records.

SUBJECT to any and all restrictions, covenants, conditions, easements, rights of way and all other matters affecting subject property of record in the Office of the RMC for Dorchester County, South Carolina.

AND BEING the same property conveyed to Sinclair Brown, Jr. and Joetta A. Brown herein by deed of Keith A. Murray and Stephanie L.R. Murray dated March 27, 2014 and recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Dorchester County in Book 9229, page 23 on April 1, 2014.

Property Address: 1668 Sandridge Road

TMS Number: 093-00-00-025

The Respondents have owned their property since 2014 and took title subject to the Metts Plat dated May 28, 2005, and recorded on June 21, 2005, in the Office of the Register of Deeds in Book K at Page 157. The Plat clearly shows that Respondents own a portion of the pond, being that 0.12 acres described in their deed and shown on the Metts Plat.

The Appellants have owned their property since 2021. Since taking ownership, they fenced off access of the pond on the north side of their property and prohibited the Respondents' quiet enjoyment of their land.

The Metts Plat dated May 28, 2005 and recorded on June 21, 2005 in the Office of the Register of Deeds in Book K at Page 157, clearly shows Respondents' property, Lot 3, contains 3.50 acres of which .012 acres is in the pond which Appellants have now fenced off.

The Appellants' Plat dated October 13, 2018, and recorded on December 17, 2018 in the Office of the Register of Deeds in Book M at Page 159 does not survey Respondents' property and incorrectly shows no ownership interest in the pond for the owners of Lots 1 through 4 on the 2005 Plat. (ROA 282)

The Respondents pled properly for relief in their Summons and Complaint, (the "Complaint"), filed with the Court on September 2, 2021, by bringing forth an action pursuant to the provisions of the South Carolina Declaratory Judgments Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-10, *et seq.*, to obtain a declaration of the rights, status, and other legal relationships of the parties hereto in respect to the subject property in this matter. The Respondents pled asking this Court to declare rights, status, and other legal relationships as to the parties and as to the Respondents' ownership of their property. (ROA 37)

At the trial of this case, the Appellants admitted to constructing a fence and blocking the Respondents' access to the their Property portion of the pond. (ROA 235)

It is important to note much of the testimony at trial which is quoted here.

Raymond B. Hager, the original surveyor of the Metts Plat, testified that the Joneses, the original owners of the subject properties in this matter, hired him to survey it and subdivide it so they could sell waterfront lots including pond acreage.

*Q. Tell the judge what you're showing [Plat], and just walk us through the various lots and the pond. Just walk us through it, sir?*

*A. There was a subdivision of -- of lots. If I remember correctly, I think Mr. Jones had a couple of buyers for a couple of the lots, but I'm not sure that that's what it is. And we divided it into lots the way that Mr. Jones wanted this subdivided out to sell.*

*Q. As I'm looking at this plat, I see five lots of proposed pond and 42.36 residual acres. Is that to your recollection of how this was subdivided?*

*A. Yes, sir.*

*Q. All right. And on lot 3, which is the lot I'll represent as my client's, do you see lot 3?*

*A. Yes, sir.*

...

*Q. Lot 3 contains what, sir?*

*A. **3.5 acres total. And of that, .12 acres would be in the proposed pond.***

*Q. All right. And then similar questions for lots 1, 2, 4, and 5. Lot 5 doesn't show any pond acreage, does it?*

*A. No, sir.*

*Q. And how about lot 1? Does it have some pond acreage?*

*A. Yes, sir. It has -- it has .66 acres of the 5 proposed pond.*

*Q. And how about the next lot, lot number 2?*

*A. Lot number 2 shows .12 acres of the proposed pond.*

*Q. And how about lot 4?*

*A. Lot 4 shows .11 acres of the proposed pond.*

(ROA 207)(emphasis added)

...

*Q. Yes, sir. I was asking you about what the state of the pond was at the time of the plat. Was it being dug, was it finished? Tell the court about that.*

*A. It -- it was being dug at the time.*

*Q. All right. And to your knowledge, were the Joneses digging that pond, or people who were working for the Joneses?*

*A. To my knowledge, Mr. Jones had a mining permit, and was selling sand from this pond.*

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